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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

     P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	WENDY L. FORTNER, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

NORTHWEST AIRLINES, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

LIBERTY INSURANCE CORP,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200803292M, 

200606752, 200710214 
AWCB Decision No. 09-0116
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on June 18, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board or AWCB) heard Employee’s claim for benefits and Employer’s Petition appealing a decision of the Rehabilitation Administrator’s Designee (RBA Designee) on April 29, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Burt Mason represented Wendy Fortner (Employee).  Attorney Jeffrey Holloway represented Northwest Airlines and its workers’ compensation insurer Liberty Insurance Corp. (Employer).  We left the record open for our receipt of a medical deposition, and allowed Employer until May 6, 2009 to review and respond to Employee’s final fee affidavit.  We received the deposition, and reviewed it on May 12, 2009, deliberated, and closed the record on May 26, 2009.


ISSUES

Employee’s issues include:

1) Is Employee entitled to an award of temporary total disability (TTD) from June 3, 2008 and continuing, pursuant to AS 23.30.185?

2) Is Employee entitled to her past and ongoing medical and related transportation expenses, pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

3) Is Employee entitled to an award of permanent partial impairment (PPI), pursuant to AS 23.30.190?

4) Are Employee or his medical providers entitled to an award of interest, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142?

5) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs, pursuant to AS 23.30.145?

Employer’s issue is:

6) Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in finding Employee eligible for vocational reemployment benefits, and is the RBA Designee’s decision supported by substantial evidence, pursuant to AS 23.30.041?


EVIDENCE SUMMARY 

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

Three injuries are involved in this case.  On January 21, 2006, Employee was working in the lower deck of an aircraft pulling deck pallets across the floor (AWCB case no. 200606752).
  While so doing, Employee slipped and landed on her left knee.  On June 25, 2007, while walking down a stairway at work Employee tripped on a damaged step, lost her balance and suddenly went into a “squatting” position (AWCB case no. 200710214).
  She claims both knees were traumatized with her left knee damaged more than her right.  Lastly, on March 7, 2008, as Employee was exiting her work van, she placed her left foot on the ground and it “skated out” from underneath her on an icy surface and she fell to the ground, again landing on her left knee (AWCB case no. 200803292).
  She also asserts her low back was injured to some extent in all of these episodes.

A. AWCB case no. 200606752:

Employer began paying TTD benefits effective May 17, 2006 and continued paying through July 12, 2006.  On September 15, 2006, Employer paid a lump-sum PPI benefit based upon a 7% whole person rating.
  On July 18, 2008, Employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim (claim) for her left knee stating as the reason for filing “to protect statute and consolidate claims.”
  On September 30, 2008, Employer filed a “petition for review,” seeking review of the September 22, 2008 RBA Designee decision finding Employee entitled to “an eligibility evaluation.”
  On October 24, 2008, Employer filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on its September 30, 2008 petition.
  Employee filed her Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on her August 18, 2008 claim on October 8, 2008.
  Employer subsequently filed another petition for review, and an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on even date, seeking review of the RBA Designee’s determination on February 12, 2009, finding Employee “eligible” for reemployment benefits.
  Employee opposed Employer’s petition for review of the RBA Designee’s determination.

On November 4, 2008, the parties set forth the issues and agreed to a hearing; the three cases supra were joined.
  Subsequently, on December 2, 2008, the parties stipulated to conducting a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME).

B. AWCB case no. 200710214:

Employer commenced paying TTD benefits on October 12, 2007 and continued through December 3, 2007, at which time benefits were interrupted and then resumed on March 17, 2008 through June 2, 2008, until controverted on June 30, 2008.
  On July 18, 2008, Employee filed a claim similar to the one she filed in the previous claim, discussed supra.
  On November 18, 2008, Employer filed a Notice of Possible Claim against the Second Injury Fund.

C. AWCB case no. 200803292:

On June 30, 2008, Employer controverted TTD, temporary partial disability (TPD), ongoing medical treatment as a result of the “June 25, 2007 and March 7, 2008” injuries, PPI, and vocational rehabilitation benefits based upon an Employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME) with Lance Brigham, M.D., done on June 3, 2008.
  On July 18, 2008, Employee filed another claim similar to the two claims referenced supra.  Employee specifically requested TTD, interest, PPI “when rated,” medical care, past and future, travel/per diem, and actual attorney’s fees and costs.
  Employer controverted Employee’s claim on August 12, 2008.
  Employer answered Employee’s claim, arguing in reliance upon Dr. Brigham’s EME report Employee reached medical stability and was no longer entitled to TTD beyond June 3, 2008, had no additional PPI for her left knee, needed no further treatment for the low back or left knee, was released to return to work, there were no outstanding transportation costs, and for these reasons had no entitlement to attorney’s fees, costs, or interest.
  

On October 24, 2008, Employer filed a petition for an SIME.
  On December 16, 2008, Employer served a Request for Cross-Examination requesting the right to cross-examine Jeffrey Tollefson and Mark Giullari concerning Employee’s historical work duties.
  Employer partially withdrew its Controversion Notices “effective April 20, 2009,” specifically electing to withdraw its controversion related to medical costs for treatment to Employee’s left knee.  Employer retained its right to file a new controversion based on any newly discovered evidence.  Consequently, Employer advised Employee she was “free to undergo treatment for her left knee” in accordance with the Act, and any future medical costs related to that knee would be reviewed and processed pursuant to the Act.  Other aspects of previously filed Controversion Notices remained in effect.

II. MEDICAL HISTORY:

Keeping in mind the current injuries involve primarily Employee’s left knee with some right knee involvement, and her low back, the Board reviews her past medical history relevant to the knees and low back.  In 2002 and 2003, Employee complained of low back pain following work injuries with Northwest Airlines.
  She was diagnosed with an “acute low back and sacroiliac joint strain” in 2002 and “low back pain” in 2003 and was noted on both occasions to have a “normal gait.”
  

On January 5, 2004, Employee saw John Frost, M.D., complaining of a work injury on September 17, 2003 when she stepped out of a plane onto a step truck, the plane shifted and she twisted her right knee.  Employee reported feeling a “pop” as though something was out of place and feeling she had to push it back into place.  She did not actually fall down or otherwise strike her knee but developed swelling and bruising.  Employee reported persistent knee discomfort which occasionally woke her up at night if she turned wrong.  She reported swelling, popping, a grinding sensation, and occasional “giving way” along with morning stiffness and pain while kneeling and she had difficulty using stairs.  In Dr. Frost’s examination, Employee did not demonstrate a significant limp but was fairly tender to examination.  X-rays showed fairly normal “knees” with just a hint of early degenerative changes “in both.”  Dr. Frost diagnosed a possible torn medial meniscus in Employee’s right knee and recommended a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan.
  By contrast, John McCormick, M.D., interpreted the x-rays to show “no arthritic, degenerative or post-traumatic abnormalities.”

The MRI disclosed “a small joint effusion” with an otherwise unremarkable study.
  The radiologist did not perceive any ligamentous tears, sprains, bone damage, or a meniscal tear.
 Employee followed up with Dr. Frost on January 12, 2004; he reviewed the right knee MRI, and agreed she did not have any evidence of meniscus tears.  He decided to treat Employee conservatively and prescribed medication.
  

On January 14, 2006, Employee reported back pain and discomfort for the previous two days, as she had slipped and fallen onto her right side.  She complained of pain and tenderness in the lumbar and thoracic spine regions with radiation down the back of her thighs.  On examination, Dale Trombley II, M.D., found a buttocks contusion and a strain of the posterior thigh, lumbar, and thoracic back muscles.  He noted Employee had obvious difficulty walking around the room and appeared very uncomfortable sitting.  X-rays showed no fractures in the pelvis or hip region.  Dr. Trombley prescribed medication and conservative care.

One week later, Employee had the above-mentioned January 21, 2006 injury when she fell on her left knee.  Gina Wood, PA, examined Employee on January 21, 2006 and found her suffering with left knee pain and swelling with a superficial abrasion in the patella region.  PA Wood questioned a patellar fracture and recommended x-rays.  She determined the condition was work-related because it occurred while Employee was on duty; she was not medically stable but released her to regular work effective January 21, 2006.
  X-rays resulted in a finding of “no acute abnormalities” seen.
 On February 3, 2006, Employee saw Mark Malzahn, PA, reporting significant anterior left knee pain and swelling with a deeper pain beneath the knee cap, which bothered her while going up and down stairs, and with prolonged sitting, squatting or kneeling.  She reported no other history of significant trauma to her left knee.  PA Malzahn found left knee range-of-motion from 0° to 110° in flexion, mild swelling of the pre-patellar bursa, no inflammation and no effusion.  Orthopedic tests were generally negative with some tests causing pain in the anterior knee.  A left lower extremity bone scan showed abnormally increased tracer activity in the lateral soft tissues of the distal left thigh, which Dr. McCormick opined may be secondary to trauma to the soft tissues, or as PA Malzahn put it, increased uptake in the anterior left knee consistent with a “contusion.”  X-rays showed no arthritic, degenerative, or posttraumatic abnormalities.
  PA Malzahn assessed a “contusion with abrasion and pre-patellar bursitis.”  He provided prescription medication and continued conservative therapy with a knee wrap or sleeve, activity modification and avoidance, ice and elevation, and follow-up in one week.
  The follow-up visit revealed similar findings.
  

On February 21, 2006, Employee underwent a left knee MRI, which showed evidence of intra-meniscal degenerative change involving the posterior horns of the medial and lateral menisci, no frank meniscal tears, and no other significant abnormalities.
  PA Malzahn’s assessment was prepatellar bursitis with possible medial meniscal injury.  He prescribed medication and a foam knee pad along with appropriate “activity modification avoidance.”
  By late February, Employee reported slow improvement with decreased pain and swelling in her knee.
  In early March 2006, Employee complained of increasing pain with cold and any physical activity.  Objectively, PA Malzahn found knee effusion and continued swelling.  He provided a Lidocaine and Marcaine injection into the bursa.
  About a week later, Employee reported the bursa had reduced about 70% in size following the injection.

PA Malzahn referred Employee to Dr. Frost for further evaluation.  He assessed post-traumatic, left knee prepatellar bursa irritation with possible neuroma, and prescribed a medicated cream.
  On April 24, 2006, Employee reported continued pain with squatting and kneeling, both of which she said were important parts of her job.  She wanted a pre-operative evaluation with Dr. Frost to decide whether the bursa and possible neuroma should be removed.
  In follow up, Dr. Frost noted Employee injured her knee at work on January 21, 2006, when she fell in an aircraft and cut the front of her knee.  She had a painful prepatellar bursa and desired to have it surgically repaired.

On May 17, 2006, Dr. Frost performed open excision of a post-traumatic, pre-patellar bursitis.  He specifically referenced the fall at Northwest Airlines as the indication for surgery.
  The surgery went well and by May 22, 2006, Employee was showing some improvement.  Employee’s husband asked PA Malzahn if pain medications were going to be prescribed and was advised Dr. Frost was considering it, but PA Malzahn explained “this far from surgery she should not be having that much pain with a simple incision.”
  Don Smith, PA, reported Employee was doing well on June 1, 2006, and took her “off work” for “the next 2-4 weeks” and suggested she avoid direct knee trauma.
  PA Malzahn kept her off work for “another two weeks” effective June 14, 2006.

Employee began physical therapy (PT) on June 23, 2006, extended for four weeks effective June 28, 2006.   PA Malzahn continued Employee’s off-work status for two more weeks effective June 28, 2006.
  On July 12, 2006, Employee complained of continued pain at night and with squatting or kneeling, which she said was a significant portion of her job, and PA Malzahn released Employee to light-duty work.  The therapist on July 12, 2006 noted Employee had aggravated her knee at the gym or when driving and did not think she could tolerate returning to work.
  Nonetheless, PA Malzahn released Employee to “modified” work from July 12 through July 26, 2006 and projected she could return to full duties by July 26, 2006.  Dr. Frost on his August 3, 2006 evaluation, noted Employee may have gotten weak from being off work so long for “this relatively minor injury” and she should continue in office work “for the next few months” though there was no “medical reason” why she could not be doing her “regular work.”  She was making arrangements for an impairment rating.  Dr. Frost opined there was no need for any further, formal PT or office follow-up.

Employee saw Larry Levine, M.D., on Dr. Frost’s referral for a PPI rating on August 22, 2006.  Dr. Levine provided a 7% whole-person PPI rating for the left knee pursuant to the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition (Guides) based primarily upon a gait derangement and post-traumatic bursitis.

There is a gap in the medical records and no reports contemporaneous with Employee’s June 25, 2007 knee injury.  On July 25, 2007, Employee reported a five-week history of left knee pain when she fell down stairs at Northwest Airlines and twisted her left knee.  A left knee x-ray done by Eugene Chang, M.D., on July 25, 2007 revealed “a mild lateral tilt,” early signs of patella femoral arthritis, and a torn medial meniscus.
  Dr. Chang recommended an MRI.
  The MRI showed “fairly impressive” chondromalacia in the medial compartment with extensive irregularity of the articular cartilage and some degeneration of the posterior and medial meniscus but no “frank tear.”
  Dr. Chang treated Employee conservatively, on a clinical diagnosis of occult meniscus tear, with cortisone injections into the left knee.
  He reiterated his opinion she had a torn medial meniscus on a follow-up visit and noted the injection worked well but only had a “temporizing” effect.
  Dr. Chang recommended an arthroscopic, partial medial menisectomy.
  He noted she was totally disabled and off work “until further notice” effective October 18, 2007.

Employee had surgery on October 23, 2007; Dr. Chang found a torn meniscus and Grade 3 chondromalacia of the distal femoral condyle.
  He continued her total disability status until November 27, 2007.

On November 14, 2007, Employee reported she slipped on the ice the night prior and injured her back.  There is no mention of any knee pain or injury.
  

On November 15, 2007, Dr. Chang continued Employee’s TTD status until December 4, 2007.
  On November 27, 2007, he modified his December 4, 2007 release to restrict Employee to “no stairs” and “sedentary” work only.
  Dr. Chang opined Employee was medically stable effective February 6, 2008, and referred her back to Alaska Spine Institute for a PPI rating.

Employee saw Dr. Levine again on March 3, 2008, complaining her left knee was worse than it was after the first left knee injury, and she had something wrong with her back as well.  Employee expressed difficulty with most tasks, which caused severe knee pain.  Depression was also a problem, brought on by pain.  Dr. Levine opined there was no additional PPI for the left knee above the 7% previously assigned; he needed more information to assess her back for PPI.

Again, we find no contemporaneous medical records related to Employee’s March 7, 2008 injury to her left leg and low back.  

On March 14, 2008, Employee and her husband saw Dr. Chang and reported she was not able to perform her work duties and wanted “a complete disability from work.”  He declined to provide one but stated she was probably not capable of performing the type of work she had been doing “and should seek retraining.”   Jim Bliven, PA at Dr. Chang’s office, provided an off-work slip stating Employee could do only sedentary work, seated only, with lifting restrictions.  She was going to follow with James Eule, M.D., for her lumbar spine issues.
  On March 17 and March 20, 2008, respectively, Dr. Chang and Dr. Voke stated Employee was totally disabled until April 3, 2008.

On March 20, 2008, Employee saw Dr. Voke for her back.  She reported left leg issues but “has no problems with the right leg.”  Jessica Spayd, ANP in Eagle River provided Employee with pain medications.  Dr. Voke diagnosed left knee pain, two left knee surgeries, and lumbar spine pain.  He recommended an MRI for her spine and suggested she continue to obtain pain medications from ANP Spayd.  Dr. Voke took Employee off work for three weeks beginning March 20, 2008.
  The lumbar MRI disclosed mild, lower lumbar facet arthritis and a minimal disc bulge at L4-5.
  Dr. Voke referred Employee to Sean Taylor, M.D., for further evaluation and a possible epidural steroid injection.
  He also opined she was totally disabled for one month effective April 2, 2008.

Employee returned to Dr. Chang for her left knee on April 2, 2008; he recommended Hyalgan injections and removed her from work for four weeks until the injections were completed.

ANP Spayd referred Employee to Larry Kropp, M.D., for low back pain management on April 23, 2008. Meanwhile, Dr. Chang recommended a knee brace and, on May 7, 2008, suggested she remain off work for another “couple of weeks” until the brace was ready.  Following receiving the brace, Employee would return to work “as tolerated.”
  Dr. Kropp suggested Employee might be able to return to work on or about June 15, 2008.
  On May 14, 2008, Dr. Kropp reported a history of Employee having worked “on the docks” doing heavy lifting and moving equipment which lead to her low back pain “several years ago.”  He opined her “recent” MRI “looked pretty good.”  

Dr. Kropp recommended steroid injections and possible facet blocks to get her left-sided L-5 radicular symptoms under control.  Dr. Kropp performed a selected nerve root injection in the lumbar spine on May 16, 2008.
  He also recommended pool therapy.
  Employee noted good progress with her steroid injection but began having some right-sided symptoms.  Dr. Kropp planned repeating the injections bilaterally.

On May 30, 2008, Employee saw Dr. Chang again for follow up.  Her knee brace was providing some pain relief but her knee hurt her enough that it was difficult for her to get up and down stairs.  He noted no significant changes from the previous visit.  Dr. Chang said “I feel Wendy is reaching medical stability,” but noted her “baseline” was not very good in respect to her activity level.  She needed a sedentary job that did not require stairs.  He recommended she continued getting her back treatment with Dr. Kropp and return to work as tolerated.

On June 3, 2008, Employee saw Lance Brigham, M.D., for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  Dr. Brigham reviewed Employee’s history and noted constant back pain radiating down the right buttock and constant left knee pain were her chief complaints.  Dr. Brigham records a history for the June 25, 2007 and March 7, 2008 injuries, but does not mention the January 21, 2006 event.  On physical examination, Dr. Brigham found both knees aligned normally with no effusion.  He found no crepitation but Employee complained of global pain on the medial side of the left knee patella, but no complaints on the right.  Dr. Brigham diagnosed a history of left knee contusion and sprain on a more-probable-than-not basis “due to the industrial claim” on June 25, 2007, with a partial medial menisectomy and Grade 3 chondromalacia of the medial femoral condyle, not treated surgically.  He further diagnosed a history of a fall with low back pain and re-aggravation of left knee pain on a more-probable-than-not basis “due to the industrial claim of March 7, 2008.”

Dr. Brigham opined Employee’s subjective complaints far outweighed her objective findings.  The 2002 and 2003 industrial injuries were not a substantial factor in Employee’s current condition.  In response to the question “did the June 25, 2007, or March 7, 2008, work injury with this employer aggravate, accelerate or combined with a pre-existing condition to produce the necessity for current medical treatment or disability,” Dr. Brigham opined the “June 25, 2007 injury resulted in a torn medial meniscus” in the left knee, but Dr. Brigham could not say to a reasonable degree of medical probability the June 25, 2007 injury or the March 7, 2008 injury is “the substantial factor” for the pain Employee felt in her left knee at the time of his evaluation.  He further felt the question whether any aggravation, acceleration or combination with a pre-existing condition produced a “temporary or permanent change” in the pre-existing condition was “not applicable.”
  However, Dr. Brigham opined “there was definite temporary aggravation from both the June 25, 2007, and March 7, 2008, injuries to the left knee and low back.”
  He recommended no further treatment for the low back or left knee, and a return to work at full-time, sedentary duty with no stairs and suggested these restrictions last for six months.  Dr. Brigham opined Employee reached medical stability with regard to the June 25, 2007 and March 7, 2008 injuries, and identified no increased PPI as a result of the March 7, 2008 left knee injury.
  The lumbar spine rated a DRE I, 0% PPI rating pursuant to the Guides, 6th Edition.

On June 4, 2008, Dr. Kropp repeated his lumbar, selected nerve root injection.  Indications for this injection included obtaining diagnostic information about the pain generator and offering relief “so that surgery can be avoided.”
  Dr. Kropp stated on June 10, 2008, Employee was not ready to return to work and he anticipated a return to work on July 15, 2008.
  Employee reported her leg pain was gone after her second injection and her pool therapy was working well.
  On August 12, 2008, Dr. Kropp advised Employee was still not ready for a return to work and anticipated her returning on September 15, 2008.
  On September 16, 2008, Dr. Kropp advised Employee would not be able to return to work until October 15, 2008.  He further noted “treatment has been suspended due to controversion by Workmen’s Comp.  No improvement until patient can be treated.”

On October 20, 2008 and October 21, 2008, ANP Spayd completed some vocational rehabilitation reports seeking her opinion about whether or not she predicted Employee would be able to return to employment she held at the time of injury or in prior years.  ANP Spayd answered she “will not” to each inquiry, which included: “Cargo Agent,” “Guard, School-Crossing,” “Teacher Aide II,” “Material Handler,” “Laborer, Stores,” “Funeral Attendant,” and “Chauffeur, Funeral Car.”

Employee saw Dr. Brigham again on December 9, 2009, with a chief complaint of constant low back pain radiating into the buttocks and occasionally down the left lateral calf, and constant left knee pain.  He maintained his opinions from his June 3, 2008 report and found no subjective findings to support Employee’s left knee pain.  In response to the question requesting identification of all substantial factors for Employee’s left knee “condition,” Dr. Brigham opined “the substantial factors for the present complaints of pain in the left knee are due to the March 7, 2008 injury.”
  He further felt the “most significant factor” in bringing about Employee’s left knee “condition” was the “industrial injury, a fall and twisting episode of the left knee.”  

Dr. Brigham stated his then-current diagnostic impression was “low back sprain,” and in his view the “injury of January 2008 is a substantial factor to the present low back pain.”  “The most significant factor” in bringing about Employee’s “low back condition” is, in his opinion, she is “reconditioned and overweight.”  He recommended no further treatment but suggested self-directed exercise and weight loss.    Dr. Brigham stated Employee’s “condition” became medically stable on June 3, 2008.
  She could return to all jobs (and portions thereof) for which Employer gave him descriptions to review.

On January 22, 2009, Dr. Chang issued a “Corrected Copy” of his medical report, apparently at the request of Virginia Samson, vocational rehabilitation specialist, stating Employee returned a year and a half after her partial, medial menisectomy.  Dr. Chang reviewed her 10 year vocational history and opined the only job he felt she could do “with any sort of consistency” was receptionist.  All other jobs, in his opinion, required too much walking and lifting.  On examination, Employee’s knee remained unchanged.

Employee saw Thomas Gritzka, M.D., for a Board-ordered Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) on February 17, 2009.  Her chief complaints were low back, buttocks and leg pain, and ongoing left knee pain.  Dr. Gritzka reviewed 255 pages of medical records the Board provided him generally summarized, supra.  He obtained a prior history of back and right knee pain, which she said had “healed.”
  On physical examination, Dr. Gritzka found Employee walked with a left, antalgic limp, was able to walk on her tip-toes but limped slightly on the left, and said walking on her tip-toes made her back hurt, and she had difficulty walking on her heels but could do it.  She was unable to squat, jog in place, or hop on her abducted left lower extremity.  Dr. Gritzka found some loss of strength in flexion and extension but otherwise normal strength throughout both lower extremities.  Following his examination, Dr. Gritzka concluded Employee was status post prepatellar bursectomy for persistent, traumatic prepatellar bursitis and chondromalacia of the left medial femoral condyle.  In his opinion, these diagnoses were “due to the injury of 01/21/06 on a more probable than not basis.”
  Employee also sustained a tear of the left medial meniscus requiring a partial arthroscopic menisectomy and she developed worsening low back pain over time, which she attributes to a limp caused by her left knee condition, plus her strenuous work activities at Northwest Airlines.

Dr. Gritzka opined the medical cause for Employee’s left knee medial compartment pain was the January 21, 2006 injury.  He noted a fall on a flexed knee is the mechanism of injury to produce a post-traumatic prepatellar bursitis.  “More probably than not,” the chondromalacia Dr. Chang found was “due to” the January 21, 2006 accident.  Dr. Gritzka opined the chondromalacia incurred on January 21, 2006 is “the major cause” of the Employee’s left knee pain at this time.

In respect to Employee’s low back pain, Dr. Gritzka explained the lumbar spine undergoes normal degenerative changes which “may or may not” be painful.  Exposure to whole body vibrations, cigarette smoking and morbid obesity, the latter of which he said Employee “now qualifies,” are contributors to low back pain as is work in the “heavy” to “very heavy” categories as set forth in the Dictionary Of Occupational Titles.  In Dr. Gritzka’s opinion, Employee’s work as a lower deck loader for Northwest Airlines “is an occupation that is likely to produce back pain because the individuals doing this work perform in cramped positions, often bent, (sic) over to push and pull heavy loads.”  According to Dr. Gritzka, “chronic limp also contributes to low back pain.” 

Dr. Gritzka set forth possible causes for Employee’s low back pain and determined more probably than not her work activities over time combined with a limp from her left knee injury have contributed to her low back condition.  While acknowledging it is difficult to parse various causes by percentage, Dr. Gritzka noted two of the three identified factors (her work with Employer and the limp resulting from her left knee injury) were industrial causes, while one (morbid obesity) was not.  Any “genetic input” is unknown because Employee does not have “a twin” with which she can be compared.
  The January 21, 2006 injury was “a cause among causes” accelerating or combining with Employee’s pre-existing condition to produce the need for specific medical treatment.  In Dr. Gritzka’s opinion, the January 21, 2006 injury aggravated Employee’s antecedent low back pain by means of her chronic limp.  It is “one of three identifiable causes for low back pain and therefore is not the substantial cause but one of several causes.”
  In respect to the left knee, Dr. Gritzka opined her condition is the result of falling on her left knee on January 21, 2006, “producing a left prepatellar bursitis but more importantly causing chondromalacia of the left medial femoral condyle.”

In respect to further treatment, Dr. Gritzka stated Employee needs treatment both to her knee and low back.  He noted Employee is very “invested” in her physical situation and work status.  Dr. Gritzka had additional x-rays taken.  If they showed significant collapse or narrowing in the medial compartment in her left knee, the January 21, 2006 injury would be the primary cause of such collapse contributed to by her subsequent stair injury, further aggravated by her March 2008 injury.  All of this may make her a candidate for a unicompartmental left knee arthroplasty.
  For Employee’s back, Dr. Gritzka recommended against additional “interventional” therapies but suggested weight loss and physical therapy beginning with aquatic therapy 2 to 3 times per week graduating to a land-based exercise program working towards work hardening.

As to Employee’s physical capabilities, Dr. Gritzka opined Employee could probably work at least part-time as a receptionist.  “Cargo agent” is not within her capabilities because of its lifting, carrying, pushing and pulling requirements.  “School Crossing Guard” can include walking and standing frequently and Dr. Gritzka doubted Employee could perform it.  “Teacher’s Aide” also required walking, standing, and can include pushing and pulling with arms or legs and he did not believe Employee could perform that position.  Dr. Gritzka disapproved “Material Handler” as it is a “heavy” category job, the “medium” duty jobs including “Stores Laborer,” “Funeral Attendant,” and the “Funeral Car Chauffeur” all because of their weight lifting requirements.

Dr. Brigham issued a March 11, 2009 report in which he reviewed his December 9, 2008 EME report at Employer’s request, corrected answer #5 and stated the answer should read the January 2008 injury “is NOT a substantial factor to the present low back pain.”

On March 17, 2009, Dr. Gritzka issued a follow-up report, having reviewed his x-ray film results.  The x-rays obtained on February 25, 2009 showed mild narrowing of the medial compartment in the left knee compared to the right.  Based upon these x-rays, Dr. Gritzka concluded Employee does not have substantial collapse in the medial compartment of her left knee and was not a candidate for unicompartmental knee replacement or any other invasive knee treatment.  He suggested conservative knee treatment including cortisone injections and possibly a series of Visco supplementary injections such as Synvisc, Hyalgon, Supartz, or Efflexor.  Because Employee had “psychological factors affecting her physical condition,” he also suggested a psychological evaluation, which would contribute to her management program.

III. DEPOSITION TESTIMONY:

A. Employee’s deposition:

In her October 7, 2008 deposition, Employee testified she did not work between 1991 and 1998 because she was a homemaker.  Employee volunteered as a school crossing guard and “noon duty” for her child’s school working about 12 to 15 hours a week in 1998-1999.
  Employee next worked at Anchorage Funeral Home about 30 hours per week, between 1998 and 1999.  She did not have a job “title” and did what was required including helping with arrangements, selling markers and certificates, typing, putting makeup on dead people, getting dead people ready for viewing, and cleaning.
  

In August 1999, Employee began work at Northwest Airlines as an Equipment Service Employee (ESE).  Her duties included bringing planes in, running the belt loader, pulling boxes and putting boxes in and out of planes.  She would break down 20,000 pound pallets and put items in areas for truckers to pick up.  Employee operated a transporter, front-loaders, lower-deck loaders and forklifts.  She began this position part-time but in 2001 became full-time.  In 2007, Employee changed jobs to a cargo customer service agent, part-time.
  Employee’s duties here included meeting flights, getting in planes, getting several “document boxes” from upstairs, taking them downstairs, driving to the office, sorting documents, arranging paperwork, checking manifests, checking cargo, and getting “Customs” clearances.
  Each document box weighed about 20 to 30 pounds and she usually had to carry two or three up and down stairs, in and out of cockpits.

Employee explained her January 21, 2006 injury and said her feet slipped and she fell, landing on her left knee on the floor.  She eventually had surgery and her left knee pain lasted from 2006 to the present.  She continued working light duty.
  This knee injury prompted Employee to change jobs as described supra, and take a lighter duty position as a cargo customer service agent.

In respect to her low back, Employee testified her back pain resurfaced after the January 2006 injury because she had difficulty squatting and kneeling and was limited in mobility.  Consequently, when she first returned to work at her initial duties with Northwest Airlines, every time she would pick something up or move something she was “pulling” because she could not squat or lift with her legs.  As a result, Employee noticed her back started really bothering her.
  Employee believes her knee injury aggravated her back because she “overcompensated” with either her other leg or her back when performing her work activities.
  Subsequently, pain medications took the edge off her back pain, but it progressively became worse until Dr. Kropp gave her injections and provided therapy.
  When Employer controverted, Employee went back to “square one.”

Employee explained on June 25, 2007, she was going downstairs at work and lost her footing on a broken step.  She ended up falling but not impacting, but rather ended up squatting “real violently.”  At that point, Employee hurt both her knees, with the right knee feeling better than the left.  Ultimately, Employee said she had left knee surgery for a torn meniscus.
  Employee distinguished this left knee pain from the initial injury’s left knee pain by noting the first injury hurt the kneecap area, while the latter injury hurt the “inside” of the knee as well as the kneecap.

Knee surgery helped her symptoms somewhat.  However, Employee felt her knee did not heal correctly and eventually she returned to Dr. Chang who gave her some injections and a knee brace, which also helped.

Employee explained on March 7, 2008, she was getting out of her van going to Customs, slipped on the ice and her feet went out from underneath her and she fell.  Employee hurt her left knee, leg, hip, back and neck when she fell because of the way she tried to catch herself.

Employee explained her various physician referrals and stated Dr. Kropp’s injections relieved her leg pain substantially.  However, part of her foot became numb.  Employee’s knee still hurts all the time.
  Her back was currently her biggest concern.

B. Dr. Brigham’s deposition:

Dr. Brigham is a medical-Board-certified orthopedic surgeon.  He examined Employee on two occasions, on June 3, 2008, and on December 9, 2008.  He did not understand why Employee was wearing a derotational knee brace but, when he removed it, Employee walked without a limp indicating there was “no real issue of pain” with “weight bearing.”
  In examining Employee’s back, Dr. Brigham found what he perceived as “totally subjective effort” with back flexion less than normal.  He also explained many “nonphysiological” findings on his examination of the low back.
  

Dr. Brigham examined both knees.  The objective findings were normal but subjectively Employee complained of global pain to light touch on the left knee.
  He felt the low back pain resulting from the March 7, 2008 injury was temporary and resolved by the time he saw Employee on June 3, 2008.
  However, he reiterated the June 25, 2007 injury caused a left knee contusion and sprain and a partial medial menisectomy and Grade 3 chondromalacia of the medial femoral condyle.
  Dr. Brigham’s work release for full-time sedentary duty with no stairs for six months was in reference to her knee.  Therefore, that restriction would last through early December 2008.
  

At the December 9, 2008 EME, Employee reported low back pain with radiation down her bilateral buttocks and occasionally down her lateral calf, and constant left knee pain linked to the patella.  Dr. Brigham opined this reflected an increase in Employee’s complaints.
  In this subsequent evaluation, Dr. Brigham said also evaluated the January 21, 2006 injury.  He noticed Employee walked normally without any limp or gait problems.  He noted a person “can have knee pain and still walk with a limp,” but “most of the time,” if you walk without a limp while weight bearing, there is no real problem with your knee.
  Dr. Brigham perceived significantly more pain behavior when compared to his first EME.  None of his previous opinions changed, but he also diagnosed in respect to the January 21, 2006 event a history of “right knee prepatellar bursitis due to industrial claim of January 26 (sic), 2006, with surgical excision of the bursa.”
  

In respect to his December 9, 2008 report at page 9, where he stated it “is felt the injury of 2008 is a substantial factor in the present low back pain,” he meant “it did cause low back pain, but it wasn’t a permanent condition.”
  Dr. Brigham explained his March 11, 2009 report in which he stated the January 2008 injury “is NOT a substantial factor to the present low back pain.”
  In reviewing medical records, Dr. Brigham thought the treatment Employee received for her low back between June and December 2008 did not cause any improvement in her symptoms.  He thought it “was hard to say” whether or not those treatments were reasonable or necessary in reference to her industrial injury because when one goes to a pain specialist “they will carry out injections.”
  In any event, he did not believe that treatment was “industrially related.”

Dr. Brigham also reviewed several job descriptions.  He opined she “couldn’t return to all the jobs that were offered.”
  He also reviewed Dr. Gritzka’s SIME reports.  Dr. Brigham noted Employee walked with a limp at that time, could walk on her tip toes, and had difficulty walking on her heels but could do it.  During his evaluation, Employee would not try to squat down.  Dr. Brigham took issue with some of Dr. Gritzka’s findings.
  However, Dr. Gritzka did not recommend any further invasive treatment for the low back and he agreed with that.
  

In respect to the knee, Dr. Brigham disagreed with Dr. Gritzka’s suggestion of additional knee injections.
  In respect to the suggestion Employee’s gait problems may be causing back pain, Dr. Brigham opined there was no literature supporting that opinion.  Dr. Brigham testified: “I have no explanation for Ms. Fortner’s present complaints of knee or back pain, both by medical record and physical exam.”

IV.  HEARING TESTIMONY:

Employee testified at hearing generally consistent with her deposition testimony.  She provided additional detail in respect to her Anchorage Funeral Home employment.  Her work included occasionally picking up “remains,” which at times were heavy and required her with assistance to lift and transfer dead bodies from a gurney to a table.  In short, Employee testified she had to be flexible at her job and did “everything” except embalming.  In respect to Mr. Wisniewski’s letter, Employee testified he was in the office perhaps four times while she was employed at Anchorage Funeral Home.  Mark Davidson, Jeff Tollefson, and Marc Giullari were her direct supervisors and more familiar with her duties.

Employee also explained in detail her duties with Northwest Airlines.  As a baggage handler, Employee got into airplanes’ bellies, stacked, loaded and threw 50 to 70 pound bags on a regular basis.  In 1999, Employee bid for a better position in the cargo section where she loaded and unloaded pallets, pushing and pulling them as needed.  In 2005, Employee became an ESE.  Because of her work-related injuries, in 2007 Employee became a Customer Service Agent, part-time in the cargo section.  This required frequently using stairs up and down, accessing airplane bellies and their “main decks.”  “Stair trucks” were used to get into the airplanes and these were “very steep.”  Document boxes could weigh up to 30 pounds if the plane was full and Employee was required to carry these up and down the stairs.

Employee explained her three work-related injuries subject of this claim, similar to her descriptions given in deposition.  Employee explained Dr. Kropp’s back treatments were working very well and he was hopeful she would make a full recovery.  She felt the remaining leg pain in both legs was not disabling but her back pain was.  Employee did not receive all the recommended back treatment because Employer controverted her case.  Because of back and remaining left knee pain, Employee believes she could not continue working since June 30, 2008.  She described her activities since her claim was controverted and testified she can climb stairs but not on a regular basis, cannot kneel even on a mattress, standing hurts, and limping makes her back hurt worse.  On cross-examination, Employee testified her back pain started after her January 2006 work-related injury but got worse after the March 2008 injury.

V. VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION HISTORY:

On July 8, 2008, Employee completed Employee’s Request for an Eligibility Evaluation in AWCB case no. 200606752, indicating it had been 90 days since she became disabled.
  A Workers’ Compensation Technician requested additional information from the adjuster.
  An adjuster responded indicating Employee was released to return to work on July 12, 2006.
  However, relying upon Compensation Reports and medical records, the technician determined Employee had been unable to return to work at her job at the time of her injury for over 90 consecutive days as a result of the injury, claim compensability was not in dispute, and Employee was entitled to an eligibility evaluation; rehabilitation specialist Virginia Samson was assigned to the task.
  ANP Spayd responded to questionnaires seeking predictive physical capacities to perform Employee’s past relevant work, discussed supra.  After completing her research, Ms. Samson determined Employee was eligible for vocational reemployment benefits.  She based this finding on:

1. Ms. Spayd has predicted Ms. Fortner will not have the permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of her jobs (sic) at the time of injury.

2. Ms. Spayd has predicted that Ms. Fortner will not have permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of her jobs in the preceding ten years.

3. Ms. Fortner did incur a PPI in relation to her 1/21/06 left knee injury.  A rating was calculated by Dr. Levine of 7% whole person.

4. Ms. Fortner states she has not:

a. Received vocational rehabilitation as the result of a prior workers’ compensation injury and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

b. Previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(s) (sic) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury.

5. NRS identified the Northwest Airlines’ contact for inquiries concerning alternative employment in Minneapolis, Minnesota.  A written fax memo and form was sent and several follow-up phone calls were made to request a response.  No response has been received to date.  However, it should be noted that Northwest Airlines was recently acquired by Delta Airlines in a merger which might make it difficult to determine any offer of alternative employment.  NRS was also contacted by Selena Hopkins-Kendall of Holmes, Weddle & Barcott on 11/10/08 indicating she had been in touch with Northwest Airlines and they had no offer of alternative employment.  NRS requested the communication from Northwest Airlines to Ms. Hopkins-Kendall be put in writing, but NRS has received no documentation to date.

On November 21, 2008, Employer wrote the RBA asking him to consider additional information not included in the eligibility evaluation before making his eligibility decision.  Employer alleged Employee worked for Anchorage Funeral Home from 1998 through 1999, but job descriptions reflecting Employee’s responsibilities were “inaccurate.”  Included in her responsibilities were transferring dead bodies from hospitals, nursing homes and other places to the funeral home as well as assisting in administrative tasks, the former being “heavy” or “very heavy” exertional tasks.  Employer relied upon the November 17, 2008 letter from Tim Wisniewski, Anchorage Funeral Home owner, which it maintained said Employee “did not perform” these heavier activities while working for that company.  Rather, Employer argued Employee performed “secretarial work.”  Mr. Wisniewski’s letter states:

Wendy Fortner worked in Anchorage as a secretary doing light work.  She answered phones and was available to greet people as they came in the funeral home.

Tim Wisniewski, owner Anchorage Funeral Home

Accordingly, Employer argued Employee met the Selected Vocational Preparation Code (SVP) for the sedentary position -- receptionist.  Employer asked the RBA to direct the rehabilitation specialist to review the eligibility evaluation to reflect the accurate job description.  Employer also objected to the specialist providing job descriptions and seeking predictive responses from the medical provider treating Employee’s back condition, rather than those treating her knee condition.

In response to Employer’s request, the RBA Designee wrote the specialist and asked her to review her interview notes and contact Mr. Wisniewski or Employee to select the correct job description for Anchorage Funeral Home.  The RBA Designee also asked the specialist to send the predictive questionnaires to Dr. Chang for his review, and if he was unable to review them for financial reasons, to contact the adjuster to see if Employer would pay Dr. Chang for his time.

Employee also submitted additional evidence on this point.  She wrote to Marc Giullari, setting forth her duties while under his direct management at Anchorage Funeral Home, and asked him to confirm the accuracy of her statement.  In response, Mr. Giullari agreed Employee performed the duties listed on a regular basis.
   Employee also provided a statement from Jeffrey Tollefson similarly confirming Employee’s duties at Anchorage Funeral Home occasionally required “heavy lifting.”
  Employee’s counsel wrote the RBA Designee and attached copies of the above-referenced letters to a request the RBA Designee consider these letters in her determination.

The rehabilitation specialist sent the predictive questionnaires to Dr. Chang as requested.  The specialist also considered Mr. Wisniewski’s statement as well as statements from Mr. Tollefson and Mr. Giullari concerning Employee’s duties at Anchorage Funeral Home.  With exception of Receptionist (Clerical and Kindred), Dr. Chang opined Employee “will not” have the permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of the provided jobs.
  In her second eligibility evaluation report, the specialist again found Employee eligible for reemployment benefits based on the following:

1. Dr. Chang, in addition to Ms. Spayd, predicted Ms. Fortner will not have the permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of her job at the time of injury.

2. Dr. Chang, in addition to Ms. Spayd, predicted Ms. Fortner will not have the permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of her jobs in the preceding years.  Dr. Chang did predict she will have permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of the receptionist job but, as that was a combination job, it is considered disapproved.

3. As noted in previous reports, Ms. Fortner did incur a PPI in relation to her 1/21/06 left knee injury.  A rating was calculated by Larry Levine, M.D. of 7% whole person.

4. Ms. Fortner states she has not:

a. Received vocational rehabilitation as the result of a prior workers’ compensation injury and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

b. Previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(s) (sic) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury.

5. NRS contacted Northwest Airlines concerning any possibility of alternative employment and to date has not received a reply.  NRS outlined in more detail the pursuit of alternative employment information in the 11/17/08 Addendum.

In response to this addendum, Employer objected to the specialist’s treatment of the “Receptionist” job as merely a portion of Employee’s funeral attendant job description, which had to be approved in its entirety to disqualify Employee for vocational reemployment benefits.  Employer referenced in support of its argument Deluca v. Unocal Alaska Resources
 and Anacker v. Bucher Glass, Inc.
  Employer asked the RBA Designee to order a labor market survey to verify whether adequate positions exist in the labor market for “Receptionist,” arguing if Employee meets the SVP for that job and an adequate labor market exists, she should be disqualified from retraining.

In response, Employee argued Deluca and Anacker did not support Employer’s argument.  Anacker involved a case in which an employer offered an injured employee a job as a glazier, which was only one of the employee’s combined job descriptions, which included “Glazier, on-site” and “Glazier.”  The Board in Anacker, according to Employee, ruled the employee was not entitled to vocational reemployment benefits because the employer offered the employee a modified job, he returned to work and was physically capable of performing at work.  Employee argued Deluca similarly did not support Employer’s argument in the instant case because in Deluca the employee returned to work making $46,000 per year and the RBA Designee nevertheless found him eligible for reemployment benefits almost a year after he returned to the new position.  Employee argued neither case had any similarity to Employee’s case.

In light of this evidence, on February 12, 2009, RBA Designee Deborah Torgerson notified the parties she found Employee “eligible” for reemployment benefits based upon Ms. Samson’s January 22, 2009 report.
  Ms. Torgerson specifically reviewed the January 30, 2009 and February 4, 2009 letters from Mr. Holloway and Mr. Mason, respectively.  She implicitly accepted Ms. Samson’s reasoning that the receptionist position was only a portion of Employee’s job at Anchorage Funeral Home and her physician predicted Employee would not have the physical capacities to perform the physical demands of all her duties as a former funeral home worker.
  Employee on March 3, 2009, elected to receive reemployment benefits and selected Ms. Samson as her qualified rehabilitation specialist to provide a complete plan.

On February 24, 2009, Employer filed a petition seeking review of the RBA Designee’s February 12, 2009 determination finding Employee’s eligible for reemployment benefits.  On even date, Employer filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on its February 24, 2009 Petition.

VI.  THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS:

A. Employee’s Arguments:

Employee argued at hearing the facts concerning the three injuries are not disputed.  Employee’s capacities have been limited since she last worked in March 2008.  Several doctors opined the January 21, 2006 injury caused trauma.  Dr. Kropp treated Employee’s back, which improved, showing his treatments are reasonable and necessary, but Employer’s controversion interrupted that treatment.  Dr. Gritzka opined Employee’s limp caused by her left knee injury contributed to her back condition as did her overall employment with Northwest Airlines.  Because two out of three possible causes for the need for treatment and disability related to her back are occupational, Employee argues they are “the substantial cause” of her need for medical treatment and disability.  Employee suggests we give lesser weight to Dr. Brigham’s opinion because he disagrees with findings recorded by other doctors and his opinion, therefore, is not supported by the evidence.  Employee particularly notes in his earlier report Dr. Brigham released Employee to only sedentary work with no stair climbing, but six months later said Employee could return to heavy labor, without a stair climbing restriction, and could lift and carry 100 pounds.  Employee argued these positions are inconsistent, and inconceivable.  Accordingly, she requests TTD from June 3, 2008 and continuing, payment for past medical bills, an award of ongoing medical care, interest on all benefits, PPI when “stable and rated,” and attorney’s fees and costs.

In respect to Employer’s appeal from the RBA Designee, Employee argued the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion and her decision was supported by relevant evidence presented at the time the decision was made, and no new evidence alters that decision.  The Board is limited to its review on those bases.  Employee objected to the Board considering a memo from the RBA because it was offered as opinion testimony, the RBA was not a witness, it was published after the events occurred, is not law, not a statute, not a regulation, and is only a “guideline.”

B. Employer’s Arguments:

By contrast, Employer argued Dr. Brigham is the only physician who linked the back strain to a specific, work-related injury but said it resolved by June 3, 2008.  Accordingly, Employer argues this does not meet “the substantial cause” test.  Specifically, “one of three” causes is not “the substantial cause” as stated by Dr. Gritzka in his report at page 10.  Dr. Brigham found no limp or gait disorder except for when Employee was wearing her knee brace, which he opined she did not need.  Furthermore, Dr. Brigham showed no medical research linked low back pain to gait problems.  So far as Employer knew, all past medical bills for Employee’s back have been paid.  Dr. Kropp’s June 10, 2008 report is not given to a “reasonable degree of medical certainty.”  The Board cannot award TTD unless Employee has total inability to work and is not medically stable.  There is no evidence of any additional PPI in light of Dr. Brigham’s 0% rating.

As for the RBA appeal, Employer argued Employee performed all duties of a receptionist at her funeral home job and therefore qualifies for that position.  Dr. Brigham released Employee to return to work at several positions she held in the 10 years prior to her work-related injury, and therefore, the RBA Designee’s decision is arbitrary and capricious and she abused her discretion by finding Employee eligible for vocational retraining benefits.

VII.  ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS:

Employee submitted a “statement of legal services” from her attorney Mr. Mason dated April 22, 2009, attached to her hearing brief itemizing 64 hours of attorney time, with 32.4 hours incurred at $275 per hour and 31.6 hours incurred at $300 per hour for a total of $18,115.00.  Total costs incurred were $177.55.  At hearing, we received a supplemental statement of fees and costs documenting an additional 8.8 hours of attorney time at $300.00 per hour for a total of $2,640.00.  Total fees thus incurred are $20,755.00, and total costs are $177.55.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. THE §120 PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS.

Employee is afforded a presumption that all benefits she seeks are compensable.
  The §120 presumption is applicable to any claim for benefits under the Act.
  AS 23.30.120(a) states, in relevant part: 

In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.

Evidence required to raise the §120 compensability presumption varies depending upon the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
 Employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal,” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between benefits sought and the alleged employment injury
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability or impairment.
  

Applying the §120 presumption is a three-step analysis.
  First, Employee must establish a “preliminary link” between her employment and the claimed disability and need for medical care.  At this stage in determining whether the preliminary link has been established, we do not weigh the witnesses’ credibility.
  If we find such relevant evidence at this threshold step, the §120 presumption attaches to all aspects of Employee’s claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, Employee need not produce any further evidence and she prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
  Second, once the preliminary link is established, the §120 presumption attaches to the claim and the burden of production shifts to Employer.  In this case if the §120 presumption attaches, Employer must overcome the presumption by producing “substantial evidence” Employee is not entitled to any TTD, PPI, medical costs and related transportation expenses, and consequently no interest, or attorneys fees and costs.
  “Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself.”
  Therefore, we defer questions of credibility and weight we give to Employer’s evidence until after we have decided whether Employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption Employee is entitled to the requested benefits in her claim.
  

There are several applicable methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability in this case: Employer may overcome the §120 presumption by: (1) presenting substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would show the injury did not arise out of or in the course of Employee’s employment, and showing the requested benefits are not related to Employee’s work with Employer; or (2) directly eliminating all reasonable possibilities Employee’s injury “arose out of and in the course” of her employment, and directly eliminating all reasonable possibilities her work was a substantial factor in any disability, need for medical care, or permanent impairment.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the “preliminary link” apply in determining whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  However, we cannot abdicate our fact-finding role by relying upon “extremely slight” medical evidence to overcome the presumption as it applies to any issue in Employee’s claim.

The third step in our presumption analysis provides, if Employer produces substantial evidence Employee’s injury is not work-related, or no TTD, PPI, or medical costs and related transportation expenses are awardable, the presumption drops out and Employee must prove all elements of her claim by a “preponderance of the evidence.”
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the mind of the fact-finder the asserted facts are “probably true.”
  With this general analysis in mind, we now review the various issues in this case, applying the §120 presumption analysis to each.

II. TTD FROM JUNE 3, 2008 AND CONTINUING, PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.185.

We find Employer does not dispute Employee’s initial injuries and disability resulting from her left knee injury and from what it argues was a temporary “lumbar strain.”  Employee, by contrast, contends her continuing symptoms, disability, need for medical treatment, and any additional PPI relate to either one or more of her above-referenced specific injuries to her left knee and lower back or her employment with Northwest Airlines in general.  Generally speaking, workers’ compensation liability is imposed on an employer whenever employment is established as a causal factor in a claimant’s disability or need for medical treatment.
  In this case, based on the dates of injury, the Board has to find the employment was “the substantial cause” of the requested medical care, disability or PPI.
  Employee must make a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment, disability, or PPI benefit and his employment to cause the §120 presumption to attach.
  

Without weighing any evidence, we find in the first step of the presumption analysis, based upon Dr. Gritzka’s SIME reports, which state Employee’s continuing knee and back symptoms arise from a work-related injury or her work with Employer in general and she needs more care for her knee, Dr. Kropp’s June 4, 2008 report, which says Employee is improving, needs more back care and is not ready to return to work, and Dr. Chang’s May 30, 2008 report, which says Employee is nearing medically stability in respect to her knee, can return to work “as tolerated” in respect to her knee, and should continue her back treatments with Dr. Kropp, Employee has raised the §120 presumption of compensability that she is disabled, needs more medical care for her knee and back and is not yet medically stable.  We find the presumption attaches.

In the presumption analysis’ second step, we find Employer rebutted the presumption through Dr. Brigham’s EME opinions stating the work injuries are no longer a substantial factor or “the substantial cause” for Employee’s disability, need for additional medical care, or any additional PPI.  Having found Employer rebutted the presumption, it drops out and Employee must now prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.

In the presumption analysis’ third step, we weigh the evidence and determine whether or not Employee has proven her claim for benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find she has.  First, based upon Dr. Gritzka’s SIME reports, we find Employee’s low back condition compensable because we give significant weight to Dr. Gritzka’s opinion stating Employee’s employment with Northwest Airlines more probably than not aggravated or combined with a pre-existing lumbar condition to cause the need for medical treatment and disability.  We further find Dr. Gritzka’s opinion stating two of the three identifiable causes for Employee’s back pain are occupational is persuasive, accurate, and taken in context, states “in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability. . . .”
  

Employer argues we should consider and rely upon Dr. Gritzka statement in which he says:

The injury of 01/21/06 was a cause among causes in accelerating or combining with the examinee’s preexisting condition to produce the need for specific medical treatment.  The injury of 01/21/06 aggravated the examinee’s antecedent low back pain by means of a chronic limp.  It is one of the three identifiable causes for the examinee’s low back pain and therefore is not the substantial cause but one of several causes. . . . (emphasis added).

We disagree with Employer’s position arguing we should deny Employee’s low back claim based upon Dr. Gritzka’s opinion, cited supra.  It is true Dr. Gritzka said the specific event which occurred on January 21, 2006 was not “the substantial cause” of Employee’s low back pain, but reading this in context with his other responses, we find Dr. Gritzka opined two of the three known causative factors contributing to Employee’s low back pain are “industrial,” and we find his opinion supports our conclusion that, “in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability. . . .”
  In other words, we find the two industrial factors, i.e., the limp caused by the January 21, 2006 knee injury and Employee’s heavy work with Northwest Airlines, together are “the employment” which is “the substantial cause” of Employee’s disability.  We conclude Dr. Gritzka’s opinion can only be read as supporting Employee’s claim in respect to her back injury.

In Williams v. State,
 the Supreme Court reversed a Board decision finding against an injured worker based upon semantical issues from her attending physician’s testimony.  In Williams, a physician testified among other things “the employee’s work-related stress was a major factor in the employee’s having to quit her job in 1990,” but also testified “a major factor is not a substantial factor.”
  The Board relied upon this physician’s testimony and denied the employee’s claim.  The Supreme Court, however, reversed and said the physician’s testimony “can only be understood as supporting Williams’s position.”  The court further noted:

First, Dr. Buchanan expressed the opinion although work-related stress was ‘a major factor’ contributing to her condition, a ‘major factor’ was not ‘a substantial factor.’  His testimony establishes, however, that he did in fact consider work-related stress to be ‘a substantial factor’ -- as that term is properly used in workers’ compensation cases -- in the aggravation of Williams’s physical ailments. He misconstrued the legal meaning of the term ‘substantial factor,’ and imported an exclusivity requirement into the term where none exists in workers’ compensation law (footnote omitted).  He testified:

The problem is in the definition of the word substantial.  And I think that’s the whole case, to my way of thinking.  Clearly [work-related stress] was a factor. I’ve already said that in print.

. . .

Whether that was a substantial one, by the definition that you said, I - I don’t know.  Because it implies exclusively -- I mean, the implication is exclusively this job did it and not other jobs.

. . .

I think the job that she was in was a factor, an important factor.  But the real problem for the board is to decide if any job was a factor and therefore would that reduce the importance of the job she was in or was it -- did it meet the criteria for substantial, which would be exclusive of other jobs.

He also stated:

[T]here seemed to be a relationship between the job stresses -- a fairly clear consistent temporal relationship between job stresses and symptoms. And when the job stresses went away, the symptoms improved but were still present.

Absent the semantical confusion, Dr. Buchanan’s testimony unequivocally supports Williams’s claim.

We are cognizant Williams dealt with a different issue and a different burden of proof under our prior law.  However, we believe the court’s analysis and logic applies a fortiori in the instant case.  As was the case with Dr. Buchanan’s testimony in Williams, we believe Dr. Gritzka’s opinion unequivocally supports Employee’s claim.  If two out of the three known causes for Employee’s low back pain are industrial and arose from employment with Northwest Airlines, it is hard for us to understand how Employee’s “employment” with Northwest Airlines cannot be “the substantial cause” of any disability related to her low back.  The Alaska Supreme Court decades ago defined the quantum of “substantial” evidence in its decision Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,
 in the context of workers’ compensation as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
In Iversen v. Terrasond, Ltd.,
 the Board interpreted “the substantial cause” as set forth in AS 23.30.010(a) and said:

In lieu of that, we will interpret ‘the substantial cause’ of AS 23.30.010 in light of the long line of Alaska Supreme Court cases interpreting ‘substantial’ to mean a quantum of evidence a reasonable person could believe sufficient to assign responsibility for causation. We will interpret ‘the’ in the language of AS 23.30.010, in relation to other substantial causes, determining if the employment injury is the substantial cause which brings about the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

In light of the above analysis, we adopt the Iversen Board’s reasoning, and we interpret “the employment” to mean either a specific employment injury, as it was used in Iversen, or in respect to her low back the overall effects of Employee’s employment with Northwest Airlines, as stated by Dr. Gritzka in the instant case.  We find based on the evidence in our record Employee had pre-existing lumbar symptoms which were aggravated by her Northwest Airlines employment and by the effects of her January 26, 2006 knee injury.  We evaluated the relative contribution of the three identifiable causes for Employee’s lumbar symptoms and, on a preponderance of the available evidence, especially Dr. Gritzka’s opinion, and in relation to other known causes we find Employee’s work with Northwest Airlines was “the substantial cause” triggering her persistent, disabling low back symptoms.  We further give weight and credibility to Dr. Gritzka’s opinion stating Employee’s limp arising from her occupational left knee injury also aggravated and combined with her pre-existing lumbar condition to cause ongoing lumbar symptoms.
  We credit his extensive experience as an orthopedic surgeon and give lesser weight to studies referenced in Employer’s briefing.

As noted supra, we find Employer does not dispute Employee’s initial disability resulting from her left knee injury and what it argues was a simple, resolved “lumbar strain.”  However, Employee claims she is entitled to TTD from June 3, 2008 and continuing until she becomes “medically stable” or ceases being disabled.  In respect to claims for TTD, AS 23.30.185 states: 

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.   Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  

AS 23.30.395(27) defines “medical stability” as follows:

‘[M]edical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

AS 23.30.395(16) states: “‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.”  Once the presumption of compensability has been rebutted, which we previously found it has, to be entitled to additional TTD benefits Employee must meet her burden of production and persuasion that she suffered continued disability because of her Northwest Airlines employment, this employment is “the substantial cause” of her disability, and she is not medically stable.  We find she met this burden.

We find Dr. Kropp’s reports showing Employee was improving with his low back treatments and Employee’s corroborating testimony credible.
  We further find Dr. Chang stated on May 30, 2008 Employee was “nearing medical stability,” was not there yet, and only could return to work “as tolerated” in respect to her knee injury, but we find he also advised Employee to continue her low back treatments with Dr. Kropp.  We rely on Dr. Kropp’s June 4, 2008 opinion stating Employee was not ready to return to work, was improving in respect to her lumbar symptoms, and her treatment had been “suspended” because of Employer’s controversion.  We find this opinion consistent with Employee’s testimony and argument that after the controversion, she returned to “square one” in respect to her back.  We further find based upon Dr. Kropp’s records and Employee’s testimony, Dr. Kropp’s recommended treatment is reasonably expected to show further, objectively measurable improvement from the effects of Employee’s back injury.  

We further find no evidence Employee’s attending physicians have stated she is medically stable in respect to her low back symptoms.  We give lesser weight to Dr. Brigham, the only physician in this case who states Employee’s low back is medically stable, because his opinion differs from Dr. Kropp’s opinion as an attending physician who documented Employee’s response to treatments over several visits, and Dr. Gritzka’s SIME opinion indicating Employee’s back needs additional care.
  Furthermore, we agree with Employee that Dr. Brigham’s work restriction to sedentary duty with no stairs which he later said was limited to the knee, which six months later changed to a full duty work release with no limits on lifting over 100 pounds, not credible.
  We find no explanation from Dr. Brigham how Employee could progress in six months from sedentary work to heavy work.  Therefore, we conclude Employee was not medically stable in respect to her low back on June 3, 2008, and is not medically stable unless and until she receives adequate medical treatment for her lumbar spine injury.

Alternately, Employer argues we should deny Employee’s TTD claim because of various work releases she received from her physicians as well as from the EME.
  Employer relies upon Vetter v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board
 for this proposition.  We reject Employer’s argument.  

First, we find only Dr. Brigham released Employee to return to various jobs that exceed a “sedentary” exertional level.  We give lesser weight to his opinion because it is refuted by every other physician and medical provider who has commented upon Employee’s physical capacities.
  Furthermore, we find it unreasonable to expect Employee, with a twice-surgically repaired left knee, and low back symptoms, to return to work in medium to heavy duty positions requiring considerable walking, standing, and stair climbing, which she held in the past.  

Second, disability rests upon a concept of inability to earn wages because of a medical condition or symptoms.  Specifically, AS 23.30.395(16) states: “‘disability’ means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.”  We find Dr. Gritzka only stated Employee could “probably” return to work as a receptionist on February 17, 2009, on a “part-time” basis.  We find no evidence refuting Employee’s deposition testimony she earned $18 an hour when she stopped working at Northwest Airlines.
  Similarly, we find no evidence a part-time or even a full-time receptionist earns $18 per hour.  We further find Dr. Chang on January 27, 2009, said Employee could return to work as a receptionist but only in respect to her knee, and referred Employee to Dr. Kropp for further low back treatment.  We find he did not comment on Employee’s ability to return to work given her back symptoms.  

Third, we distinguish Vetter from the instant case.  In Vetter, the Board found the employee did not want to work and her husband did not want her to work before the injury and probably kept her from working after her injury.  The Board based its finding on evidence the employee had a history of minimal employment during the three years previous to her work-related injury, and on her husband’s attitude toward her employment.
  The court held in some circumstances this is adequate to support a denial of TTD benefits:

If a claimant, through voluntary conduct unconnected with his injury, takes himself out of the labor market, there is no compensable disability.  If an employee, after injury, resumes employment and is fired for misconduct, his impairment playing no part in the discharge, there is no compensable disability (footnote omitted).  Total disability benefits have been denied when a partially disabled claimant has made no bona fide effort to obtain suitable work when such work is available.  And, a claimant has been held not entitled to temporary total disability benefits even though she had a compensable injury when she had terminated her employment because of pregnancy and thereafter underwent surgery for the injury.  Since the compensable injury was not the reason she was no longer working, temporary disability benefits for current wage losses were denied (emphasis added).

. . .

In short, the focus of the hearing was not upon the defense that Grace was unwilling to work but rather upon the defense that her injuries resulted from a deliberate attack by her upon a customer.  And whatever testimony reflected adversely upon her willingness to work was given incidentally in response to questions directed to this latter issue.  Such testimony, even given its most favorable inference, does not support the finding of her unwillingness to work.

We thus find a lack of substantial evidence to support the finding of the Board that appellant Grace Vetter was unwilling to work and reverse the decision of the superior court affirming the Board’s refusal to grant appellant disability compensation.

In the instant case we find no evidence Employee was unwilling to work; by contrast, we find she testified she wanted to return to work and was discouraged and depressed that she could not as a result of her work-related injuries.  Furthermore, we find no evidence Employer offered Employee substitute work; by contrast, we find Employer was given the opportunity to offer her a modified position within her limited, physical capacities but never responded to that request directly and only responded through its attorney stating it had no alternate work for Employee.  We further find the only reason Employee is not working is because of the effects from her work-related injuries.  We find her subjective feelings concerning her ability to work since June 3, 2008 are supported by Dr. Kropp’s opinion stating she was not yet released to return to work and his and Dr. Gritzka’s opinions she needed further medical care for her back.  

Fourth, we note Vetter was decided decades ago under an Act considerably different from that in effect at the time Employee was injured.  Under the current scheme, if Employee were to return to an entry-level “receptionist” position, at a pay rate considerably less than the $18 per hour she was earning at the time of her last injury, she would effectively disqualify herself from eligibility for vocational reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041(e)(2).  We do not interpret our current Act to require Employee to do so.  As discussed infra, Employee has applied for and been found eligible for vocational reemployment benefits and it is unreasonable to expect her to forfeit those benefits by accepting an entry-level receptionist position, on a part-time basis.

Lastly, we find no evidence Employee was employed anywhere following June 3, 2008; by contrast, we find no evidence to refute her testimony she was not employed since that date.  We conclude Employee is, because of her work-related low back symptoms and need for treatment, entitled to TTD benefits from June 3, 2008 and continuing until either her disability ends or she reaches medical stability.

III. PAST AND ONGOING MEDICAL AND RELATED TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES, PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.095.

Employee requests an award of continuing, work-related medical expenses and related transportation costs.  Without weighing the evidence, we find Employee incurred medical expenses and, based upon her testimony and the Board’s record, she has a physician’s recommendation for additional medical care and treatment.  We find based upon Dr. Gritzka’s SIME reports, Dr. Kropp’s opinion, and Dr. Chang’s reports, all of which state Employee may need or does need additional treatment to her knee and low back as a result of her work-related injuries, she has successfully raised the §120 presumption of compensability to her claim for medical care and treatment, and caused it to attach.  

In the second step of the presumption analysis, we determine whether Employer has rebutted the raised presumption with substantial evidence.  Without weighing any evidence, we find based upon Dr. Brigham’s EME reports, which states Employee’s work injuries are not a substantial factor or “the substantial cause” in her need for any additional care or treatment, after June 3, 2008, Employer has successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability in respect to medical care from June 3, 2008 forward.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, we weigh the evidence and determine whether or not Employee has proven her claim for medical care and related transportation expenses by a preponderance of the evidence.  Based upon our hearing record, we find Employee has.  We first note, however, pursuant to Philip Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon,
 when “the Board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that his undisputably work-related, its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”
  Our statute states:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring the treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.  The employee may not make more than one change in the employee’s choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer.  Referral to a specialist by the employee’s attending physician is not considered a change in physicians.  Upon procuring the services of a physician, the injured employee shall give proper notification of the selection to the employer within a reasonable time after first being treated.  Notice of a change in the attending physician shall be given before the change.


In Hibdon, the claimant filed an injury report for a June 24, 1993 incident on July 1, 1993.  The employer conceded the injury was work-related, but controverted Ms. Hibdon’s claim for back surgery.  She filed a claim in April 1995, which was within two years of the injury date.  Because she filed her claim within two years from the date of her injury, the Court concluded “her claim may be reviewed only to determine whether the treatment she sought in her claim was reasonable and necessary.”
  The court further stated:
The question of reasonableness is ‘a complex fact judgment involving a multitude of variables’ (footnote omitted).  However, where the claimant presents credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective and necessary for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically accepted options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden -- the employer must demonstrate to the Board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts. It is not the Board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather, the Board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable.


In the instant case, we already found Employee has a work-related, low-back injury and we Dr. Kropp recommended additional medical care for Employee’s low back.  We credit his opinion, and Employee’s testimony that his prior treatments improved her symptoms related to her low back injury until Employer controverted those treatments.  We found Dr. Chang suggested Employee continue with her low back treatments from Dr. Kropp.  We found Dr. Gritzka opined Employee needed additional treatment for her low back and knee, and only disagreed as to whether the low back treatments should be interventional therapies as opposed to weight loss, PT and aerobic conditioning.  Lastly, we find EME Dr. Brigham stated it was “hard to say” whether or not Dr. Kropp’s interventional low back treatments were reasonable and necessary.

We further find Employee filed three claims in three joined cases, supra, all on July 18, 2008.  All but one of those claims (in AWCB case no. 200606752, date of injury January 21, 2006) was filed within two years from the date of her injuries.  We find Dr. Gritzka opined the January 21, 2006 knee injury caused a limp which aggravated Employee’s antecedent low back condition as did her heavy work in general at Northwest Airlines.  Consequently, because of this case’s unique posture, and because Employee’s claim in the 2006 injury was filed more than two years after the date of that injury, and because Dr. Gritzka believes that injury is a substantial factor (in a pair of substantial factors, which together we found to be “the substantial cause”) causing the low back symptoms, we apply the less stringent test used when we review a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury.  In such cases:

On the other hand, when the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has discretion to authorize ‘indicated’ medical treatment ‘as the process of recovery may require’ (footnote omitted).  Given this discretion, the Board is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of the particular treatment sought, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives (footnote omitted).

Applying this standard, we find Dr. Kropp’s treatments were assisting Employee until her claim was controverted, and we find his past treatments were reasonable and necessary.   By contrast, we find Dr. Brigham only said it was “hard to say” whether or not Dr. Kropp’s treatments were reasonable and necessary.  Therefore, we order Employer to pay any and all outstanding medical bills related to Dr. Kropp’s or other providers’ low back treatments pursuant to the Act and the Board’s regulations, including medical transportation expenses.  In respect to ongoing low back medical treatment, if Employee desires to follow with Dr. Kropp for additional interventional therapy, we authorize such treatments at Employer’s expense, and we reserve jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.  Similarly, we find Dr. Gritzka’s suggestions for additional low back treatment also reasonable and necessary.  If Employee desires to follow Dr. Gritzka’s recommendations, we order Employer to provide physical therapy, aerobic conditioning, and aquatic therapy 2 to 3 times per week, graduating to a land-based exercise program, working towards a work hardening program.
  We reserve jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

In respect to Employee’s knee, we find, based upon Dr. Gritzka’s opinion and Dr. Chang’s reports, Dr. Chang’s past medical treatment for the knee, including the derotational knee brace, to have been reasonable and necessary and we order Employer to pay or reimburse any unpaid, work-related medical bills associated with Employee’s left knee.  If Employee desires to follow Dr. Gritzka’s recommendations for left knee medical care, we order Employer to provide the injections he recommends.
  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

IV.  PPI, PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.190.

Employee’s claim and Prehearing Conference Summary both raised a request for PPI benefits.  We find based upon the evidence in our file, and our findings above incorporated herein, Employee is not yet medically stable in respect to her low back.  We find no evidence in the records suggesting she has received a work-related, low back PPI rating from a physician after the date of medical stability, because we found she is not yet medically stable.  We find a PPI award requires a rating after a finding of medical stability.  Consequently, we find Employee’s PPI claim is premature, not ripe, and we will not address it at this time.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

V. INTEREST, PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.155(p) AND 8 AAC 45.142.

Employee has claimed interest on all benefits not paid in a timely fashion pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, which provides:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an  Injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . .

. . .

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee . . . if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.
   

We find Employee is entitled to disability and medical benefits as set forth supra.  Employee is entitled to interest from Employer on any and all time-loss benefits, and on any medical benefits she paid from her own pocket, awarded in this Decision and Order from the date on which those installments of benefits were due, in accordance with this Decision and Order.  Employer shall pay interest as determined by 8 AAC 45.142, as set forth supra.
  Similarly, the above-referenced medical providers are entitled to an award of interest on any unpaid bills for services rendered to Employee in respect to her work-rated injuries, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142(b)(3)(C).  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

VI.  EMPLOYER’S VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION APPEAL.

Employer argued Employee is not entitled reemployment benefits for several reasons: First, it claims EME Dr. Brigham opined Employee retains the capacities to work in numerous positions she held in the 10 years prior to her injury.  Second, Employer argues Employee’s work at Anchorage Funeral Home from 1998 through 1999 is adequate to meet the physical and vocational demands for “receptionist,” and relies on Mr. Wisniewski’s letter as stating Employee was in fact a receptionist/secretary at the funeral home.  Since Dr. Chang approved the receptionist job, Employer reasons the RBA Designee abused her discretion in finding Employee eligible for vocational retraining benefits.  Third, Employer implicitly argues the RBA Designee erred by using a “combined job” description specifically for the funeral home job, which included many separate job descriptions.  In summary, Employer argues Employee retains enough skills to disqualify her for reemployment benefits because she does not need retraining.

A. The standard of review:

Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) we must uphold the RBA Designee’s decision absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  Several definitions of the phrase “abuse of discretion” appear in Alaska law although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”  Sheehan v. University of Alaska;
 Tobeluk v. Lind.
  An agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.  Manthey v. Collier;
 Black’s Law Dictionary 25 (4th ed. 1968).

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides another definition for use by courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those above and expressly includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission and the Alaska Supreme Court, our decision reviewing the RBA’s determination is subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard of AS 44.62.570 incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a “substantial evidence” standard in our review of an RBA eligibility determination.  While applying a substantial evidence standard a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services.

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our prior decisions.
  Nevertheless, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence if the party offering that evidence failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we conclude the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and for necessary action.

B. The RBA Designee’s Decision:

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e)  An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles’ for:

(1) the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.’

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

(1) the employer offers employment within the employee’s predicted post-injury physical capacities at a wage equivalent to at least the state minimum wage under AS 23.10.065 or 75 percent of the worker’s gross hourly wages at the time of injury, whichever is greater, and the employment prepares the employee to be employable in other jobs that exist in the labor market;

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of injury;

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.510(b) states:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with. . . . 

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.525, which became effective July 2, 1998 provides, in part:

(a) If an employee is found eligible for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits under 8 AAC 45.510 or 8 AAC 45.520, the rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) interview the employee and, if necessary, the employer at the time of injury to obtain a description of the tasks and duties of the employee’s job at the time of injury;

(2) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate title or titles based on the description of the employee’s job; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; and

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (2) of this subsection to a physician.

(b) When interviewing the employee the rehabilitation specialist shall obtain descriptions of the tasks and duties for other jobs that the employee has held or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the injury, and any jobs held after the injury.  The rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate job title or titles based on the employee’s descriptions of the job’s (sic) held and training received; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume;

(2) determine whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation codes as described in the volume;

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (1)-(2) of this subsection, for which the employee meets the specific vocational preparation codes, to a physician.

(4) if the physician predicts the employee will have permanent physical capacities equal to or greater than the physical demands of a job or jobs, conduct a labor market survey to document that a reasonable number of job vacancies exist for those jobs. . . . 

We find rehabilitation specialist Virginia Samson asked ANP Spayd to complete questionnaires seeking predictive physical capacities to perform Employee’s past relevant work.  After completing her research, Ms. Samson determined Employee was eligible for vocational reemployment benefits.  She based this finding on ANP Spayd’s, Dr. Levine’s and Employee’s and Employer’s responses.
  We further find on November 21, 2008, Employer asked the RBA to consider additional information not included in the eligibility evaluation before making his eligibility decision.   Employer argued Employee met the Selected Vocational Preparation Code (SVP) for the sedentary position -- receptionist by virtue of her Anchorage Funeral Home employment.  Employer asked the RBA to direct the rehabilitation specialist to review the “accurate” job description as set forth by Mr. Wisniewski.  Employer also objected to the specialist providing job descriptions and seeking predictive responses from the medical provider treating Employee’s back condition, rather than those treating her knee condition.  Employer requested the specialist approach the attending physician for the knee injury, rather than the physician who did not treat the knee.
  We find in response to Employer’s request, the RBA Designee asked the specialist to investigate further and send the predictive questionnaires to Dr. Chang for his review.
  We find she did so.  We find the RBA Designee’s actions both reasonable and not an abuse of discretion.  

We further find Employee submitted for the RBA Designee’s consideration Mr. Giullari’s and Mr. Tollefson’s statements confirming Employee’s duties at Anchorage Funeral Home occasionally required “heavy lifting.”
  We find the rehabilitation specialist sent the predictive questionnaires to Dr. Chang as requested and considered Mr. Wisniewski’s, Mr. Tollefson’s, and Mr. Giullari’s statements concerning Employee’s duties at Anchorage Funeral Home.  We find the RBA Designee’s actions both reasonable and not an abuse of discretion.  We find with exception of Receptionist (Clerical and Kindred), Dr. Chang opined Employee “will not” have the permanent physical capacities to meet the physical demands of the provided jobs.
  We further find in her second eligibility evaluation report, the specialist again found Employee eligible for reemployment benefits.  She based this finding on ANP Spayd’s, Dr. Chang’s, Dr. Levine’s and Employee’s and Employer’s responses.
  We also find Dr. Brigham disagreed with Dr. Chang’s assessments and felt Employee could return to all positions held in the past.
  However, we do not reweigh the medical evidence upon which the RBA Designee relied.
  We find substantial evidence supports the RBA Designee’s decision, and we find the RBA Designee’s actions both reasonable and not an abuse of discretion.
We find Employer objects to the specialist’s and RBA Designee’s treatment of the “Receptionist” job as merely a portion of Employee’s funeral attendant job description, which had to be approved in its entirety to disqualify Employee for vocational reemployment benefits.  We find no error in the RBA Designee’s actions in this case.  We find no evidence Employee ever worked as just a receptionist in the 10 years prior to her relevant injury.  We find Ms. Torgerson specifically reviewed the January 30, 2009 and February 4, 2009 letters from Mr. Holloway and Mr. Mason, respectively, and implicitly accepted Ms. Samson’s reasoning that the receptionist position was only a portion of Employee’s job at Anchorage Funeral Home, and her physician predicted Employee would not have the physical capacities to perform the physical demands of all her duties as a former funeral home worker.
  

We agree with Employee Deluca
 and Anacker
 are not dispositive in this case and do not support Employer’s argument.  We further disagree with Employer that if Employee meets the SVP for a “receptionist” job description and an adequate labor market exists, she should be disqualified from retraining.
  Specifically, we disagree with Employer’s representation that Mr. Wisniewski said Employee was “only” a receptionist/secretary.  By contrast, we find Mr. Wisniewski’s statement simply says she was a receptionist/secretary, and does not limit her job duties to those functions.  We further agree with Employee that the RBA “guidelines” (Employer’s Hearing Exhibit 8) Employer offered at hearing is not admissible because it was not provided as evidence 20 days prior to hearing as required by 8 AAC 45.120(f).  Furthermore, we agree that even if admissible, it was created after the decision in this case was made, and it is not a statute, regulation or Board decision.  Therefore, we decline to rely upon it in the instant case.

In Deluca the employee returned to work making $46,000 per year and the RBA Designee nevertheless found him eligible for reemployment benefits almost a year after he returned to the new position, notwithstanding the fact he had obtained and held employment post-injury that allowed him to compete in the labor market.
  We find none of those factors present in the instant case.  Anacker involved a case in which an employer offered an injured employee a job as a glazier, which was only one of the employee’s combined job descriptions, which included “Glazier, on-site” and “Glazier.”  The Board in Anacker ruled the employee was not entitled to vocational reemployment benefits because the employer offered the employee a modified job, he returned to work and was physically capable of performing at work.  In the instant case, Employer has never offered Employee appropriate, modified duty, which offer could have potentially disqualified her from vocational reemployment benefits.

We find significant Board precedent supporting the RBA Designee’s decision to use a “combined” job description for describing Employee’s past work, particularly at Anchorage Funeral Home.  We further find the combined job description correlates with the language in 8 AAC 45.525(b)(1), which requires the assigned vocational rehabilitation specialist to obtain the most appropriate “job title or titles” based on the employee’s descriptions of jobs held and training received.  In Gonzalez v.  Ketchikan Pulp Co.,
 the Board addressed this same argument in respect to determining the proper job description for the employee’s job at the time of injury.  Because the Board’s regulation 8 AAC 45.525 sets forth exactly the same standards for both the description for the job at the time of the injury and the jobs held within the 10 years prior to the injury, we find Gonzalez’s reasoning persuasive.  The Gonzalez Board found the statute silent on whether or not a single job description must be applied to every job regardless of its nature.  Gonzalez concluded its procedural regulation 8 AAC 45.525(a)(2) supported the RBA Designee’s practice of using more than one SCODDOT description when necessary.  In Grunwald v. Providence Alaska,
 the employer similarly objected to the RBA’s use of a “combination job” for the employee’s work at the time of his injury.  The Board again found the RBA’s practice of combining several job descriptions to gain the most accurate description of the employee’s work did not violate the Act and actually promoted the legislative purposes of predictability, objectivity, and cost reduction.  Both Gonzalez and Grunwald found no abuse of discretion by the RBA Designee in her determination of the employee’s eligibility based upon the “combination job” descriptions submitted by the vocational rehabilitation specialist.  We follow these decisions and we find no difference between using a combination job description for Employee’s job at the time of injury versus using a combination job description for jobs she held in the 10 years prior to her injury -- the applicable regulation is identical.  We conclude the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence, as discussed supra, and we find no abuse of discretion.  Therefore, we affirm the RBA Designee’s finding Employee entitled to vocational rehabilitation benefits and deny and dismiss Employer’s petition.

VII. ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS, PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.145.

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.   When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, and further advises that bona fide legal services had been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded.   In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, light, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.  

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered. . . .

8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145 will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this state or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee. . . .  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .

. . .

(2) in awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. . . . 

We find Employer very vigorously resisted this case and we can award fees and costs pursuant to §145(b).
  We find Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting her claim; we find she incurred legal costs.  We find this claim was relatively complicated and very tenaciously litigated.  We find Employee retained an attorney who was successful in obtaining a Board order finding her employment with Northwest Airlines was the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment and disability in respect to her low back.  We find Employee’s attorney succeeded in obtaining for her additional TTD benefits, interest, medical expenses including future medical treatment for her knee and low back, and successfully defended against Employer’s appeal from the RBA Designee’s decision finding Employee eligible for vocational reemployment benefits.  We find the benefit resulting to Employee from our findings is significant, primarily because we are requiring Employer to pay for her disability and work-related medical treatment, and to provide vocational reemployment benefits.  

Mr. Mason submitted a “statement of legal services” dated April 22, 2009, attached to Employee’s hearing brief itemizing 64 hours of attorney time, with 32.4 hours incurred at $275 per hour and 31.6 hours incurred at $300 per hour for a total of $18,115.00.  Total costs incurred were $177.55.  At hearing, we received a supplemental statement of fees and costs documenting an additional 8.8 hours of attorney time at $300.00 per hour for a total of $2,640.00.  Total fees thus incurred are $20,755.00, and total costs are $177.55.  In our awards, we attempt to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate their attorneys accordingly.
  Subsection 145(b) requires the award of attorney’s fee and costs are “reasonable.”  Based on our review of the attorney’s efforts in this case, and on our review of recent cases litigated by this attorney and other attorneys, we find the requested hourly rate of $275 to $300.00 is reasonable.
  We find the itemized legal costs are reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) (2) requires a fee awarded under subsection 145(b) be “reasonably commensurate” with the actual work performed.  We find the itemized hours for Employee’s attorney in this case are reasonable.

Accordingly, pursuant to AS 23.30.145(b), we will award Employee $20,755.00 in reasonable attorneys fees and $177.55 in other legal costs related to the hearing before the Board in this case.

ORDER

1) Employee is awarded TTD benefits from June 3, 2008 and continuing, pursuant to AS 23.30.185, until she reaches medical stability for all work-related injuries or ceases to be disabled.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

2) Employee is entitled to her past and ongoing medical and related transportation expenses, pursuant to AS 23.30.095 for her left knee and low back in accordance with this decision.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

3) Employee’s claim for PPI pursuant to AS 23.30.190 is denied and dismissed at this time without prejudice because it is not ripe.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

4) Employee and her medical providers are entitled to an award of interest, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142 in accordance with this decision.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes.

5) The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding Employee eligible for vocational reemployment benefits, the RBA Designee’s decision is supported by substantial evidence pursuant to AS 23.30.041, and Employer’s Petition appealing that decision to the Board is denied and dismissed.

6) Employee is awarded attorney’s fees of $20,755.00 and costs of $177.55, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on June 18, 2009.





ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD






William Soule,






Designated Chairman






Patricia Vollendorf, Member






Don Gray, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission. 

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of WENDY L. FORTNER Employee / applicant v. NORTHWEST AIRLINES INC., Employer; LIBERTY INSURANCE CORP., insurers / defendants; Case No(s). 200803292M, 200606752, 200710214; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on June 18, 2009.






                         Jean Sullivan, Clerk
�











� See Report of Occupational Injury or Illness dated May 24, 2006.  See also Employee’s Hearing Brief at 1-2.


� See Report of Occupational Injury or Illness dated June 25, 2007.   See also Employee’s Hearing Brief at 1-2.


� See Report of Occupational Injury or Illness dated March 10, 2008.  See also Employee’s Hearing Brief at 1-2.


� See Compensation Reports dated June 9, 2006, July 31, 2006 and September 15, 2006, respectively.


� See Claim dated July 18, 2008.


� See Employer’s Petition dated September 30, 2008.


� See October 24, 2008 Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing.


� See Employee’s Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing dated October 8, 2008.


� See Employer’s Petition and Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing both dated February 24, 2009.


� See Employee’s Opposition to Employer’s Petition for Review dated March 2, 2009.


� See Prehearing Conference Summary dated November 4, 2008.


� See Prehearing Conference Summary dated December 2, 2008.


� See Compensation Reports dated November 5, 2007, November 14, 2007, December 3, 2007, April 2, 2008, July 18, 2008, and Controversion Notice dated June 30, 2008, respectively.


� See July 18, 2008 Claim.


� See Notice of Possible Claim against the Second Injury Fund dated November 18, 2008.


� See June 30, 2008 Controversion Notice.


� See Employee’s Claim dated July 18, 2008.


� See Employer’s August 12, 2008 Controversion Notice.


� See Employer’s August 12, 2008 Answer.   Employer apparently filed similar answers in all three cases.


� See Employer’s October 24, 2008 Petition for SIME.


� See Employer’s December 16, 2008 Request for Cross-Examination.


� See Employer’s Notice of Partial Withdrawal of Controversion Notices dated April 20, 2009.


� Employee argued these injuries are not involved in this hearing and are not before the Board.  See Employee’s Hearing Brief at 1.


� See April 17, 2002 PMAC Emergency Room Note.  See also March 27, 2003 PAMC Emergency Room Note.


� See Dr. Frost’s January 5, 2004 report.


� See January 5, 2005 x-ray report.


� See MRI report dated January 8, 2004.


� Id.


� See Dr. Frost’s January 12, 2004 report.


� See Dr. Trombley’s January 14, 2006 chart note and Dr. McCormick’s January 14, 2000 x-ray report.


� See Physician’s Report form dated January 20, 2006.  See also Physical Capabilities/Medical Authorization Form dated January 21, 2006.


� See Dr. McCormick’s January 21, 2006 x-ray report.


� See Dr. McCormick February 3, 2006 x-ray report.


� See PA Malzahn’s February 3, 2006 report.


� See PA Malzahn’s February 10, 2006 report.


� See Dr. McCormick’s February 21, 2006 MRI report.


� See PA Malzahn’s February 21, 2006 report.


� See PA Malzahn’s February 28, 2006 report.


� See PA Malzahn’s March 3, 2006 report.


� See PA Malzahn’s March 13, 2006 report.


� See Dr. Frost’s March 16, 2006 report.


� See PA Malzahn’s April 24, 2006 report.


� See Dr. Frost’s May 16, 2006 report.


� See Operative Report dated May 17, 2006.


� See PA Malzahn’s May 22, 2006 report.


� See PA Smith’s report dated June 1, 2006.


� See PA Malzahn’s report dated June 14, 2006.


� See PA Malzahn’s report dated June 28, 2006.


� See PT report dated July 12, 2006.


� See Dr. Frost’s report dated August 3, 2006.


� See Dr. Levine’s August 22, 2006 report.


� See Dr. Chang’s x-ray report dated July 25, 2007.


� Id. 


� See MRI report dated August 7, 2007.


� See Dr. Chang’s report dated August 10, 2007.


� See Dr. Chang’s report dated September 17, 2007.


� Id.


� See Disability Status form dated October 18, 2007.


� See Operative Report dated October 23, 2007.


� See Disability Status report dated October 29, 2007.


� See Healthworks Medical Group report dated November 14, 2007.


� See Disability Status report dated November 15, 2007.


� See Disability Status report dated November 27, 2007.


� See Dr. Chang’s February 6, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Levine’s March 3, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Chang’s March 14, 2008 report.


� See Disability Status forms dated March 17 and March 20, 2008, respectively.


� See Dr. Voke’s March 20, 2008 report.


� See MRI report dated March 24, 2008.


� See Dr. Voke’s March 27, 2008 report.


� See Disability Status form dated April 2, 2008.


� See Dr. Chang’s May 7, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Kropp’s report dated May 14, 2008.


� See Operative Report dated May 16, 2008.


� See Physician Order/Referral dated May 27, 2008.


� See Dr. Kropp’s May 27, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Chang’s May 30, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Brigham’s June 3, 2008 report at 7.


� Id.


� Id. at 8.


� Id. at 8-9.


� Id. at 9.


� See Operative Report dated June 4, 2008.


� See Dr. Kropp’s June 10, 2008 report.


� Id.


� See Dr. Kropp’s August 12, 2008 report.


� See Dr. Kropp’s September 16, 2008 report.


� See various Occupational Descriptions signed October 20, 2008 and October 21, 2008.


� See Dr. Brigham’s December 9, 2008 EME report.


� Id. at 9-10.


� Id. at 10-11.


� See Dr. Chang’s January 22, 2009 report.


� See Dr. Gritzka’s February 17, 2009 SIME report at 6.


� Id. at 8.


� Id.


� Id. at 9.


� Id.


� Id. at 10.


� Id. at 10.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 11.


� See Dr. Brigham’s March 11, 2009 letter.


� See Dr. Gritzka’s March 17, 2009 report.


� Employee’s deposition at 11-12.


� Id. at 13-14.


� Id. at 14-15.


� Id. at 15-16.


� Id. at 17.


� Id. at 29-31.


� Id. at 31-32.


� Id. at 34-35.


� Id. at 35.


� Id. at 36-37.


� Id. at 37.


� Id. at 38.


� Id. at 38-39.


� Id. at 40-41.


� Id. at 44-45.


� Id. at 50-51.


� Id.


� Dr. Brigham’s deposition at 10.


� Id. 11-12.


� Id. at 17.


� Id. at 18.


� Id. at 20.


� Id. at 21.


� Id. at 23.


� Id. at 24.


� Id. at 26.


� Id. at 27.


� Id. at 27-28.


� Id. at 29.


� Id.


� Id.  But see Dr. Brigham’s December 9, 2008 report at 10, answer 9.


� Id. at 29-30.


� Id. at 30.


� Id. at 31.


� Id. at 33.


� See Employee’s Request for an Eligibility Evaluation dated July 8, 2008.


� See Fannie Stoll’s July 29, 2008 letter.


� See Worker’s Compensation Reemployment Verification For 90 Consecutive Days Of Time Loss form dated August 12, 2008.


� See Ms. Stoll’s September 22, 2008 letter.


� See November 17, 2008 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation.


� See November 17, 2008 attachment to Mr. Holloway’s November 21, 2008 letter to the RBA.


� See Mr. Holloway’s November 21, 2008 letter.


� See December 2, 2008 letter from Deborah Torgerson to Virginia Samson.


� See December 14, 2008 e-mail from Marc Giullari to Employee.  Employer “Smallwooded” this document and requested a right to cross-examine the author on December 16, 2008.


� See December 12, 2008 letter from Jeffrey Tollefson.  Employer “Smallwooded” this document and requested a right to cross-examine the author on December 16, 2008.


� See Mr. Mason’s December 15, 2008 letter with attachments.


� See attachments to Ms. Samson’s January 22, 2009 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation Addendum #2.


� See Ms. Samson’s January 22, 2009 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation Addendum #2.


� AWCB Decision No. 02-0075 (April 26, 2002).


� AWCB Decision No. 06-0139 (June 1, 2006).


� See Mr. Holloway’s January 30, 2009 letter.


� See Mr. Mason’s February 4, 2009 letter.


� See Ms. Torgerson’s February 12, 2009 letter.


� Id. at footnote 2.


� See Employee’s Election To Either Receive Reemployment Benefits Or Waive Reemployment Benefits And Receive A Job Dislocation Benefit Instead form dated March 3, 2009.


� See Petition and Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing both dated February 24, 2009.


� See Mr. Mason’s April 22, 2009 fee affidavit.


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279.


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-474 (Alaska 1991).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989); Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


� Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp., at 1381 (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).  See also, Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer at 869.


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  See also AS 23.30.010(a).


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Black v. Universal Services, Inc., 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� � HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?vc=0&ordoc=8538629&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&DB=0000661&SerialNum=1997126006&FindType=Y&AP=&fn=_top&rs=WLW9.04&pbc=614DD6F7&ifm=NotSet&mt=Westlaw&vr=2.0&sv=Split" \t "_top" �Williams v. State, Dept. of Revenue, 938 P.2d 1065� (Alaska 1997).


� AS 23.30.010(a).


� Iversen v. Terrasond, Ltd., AWCB Decision No. 07-0350 (November 17, 2007). There the Board held: “However, we note the plain wording of AS 23.30.010 and the legislative history clearly indicates the standard of ‘the substantial cause’ would not be applicable until the third stage of the presumption analysis: That is, after the presumption is rebutted” (emphasis in original).  Iversen at 14.


� AS 23.30.010(a).


� See Dr. Gritzka’s SIME report dated February 17, 2009 at page 10, answer four.


� AS 23.30.010(a).


� 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).


� Id. at 1074.


� Id. at 1074-1075.


� 617 P.2d 755 (Alaska 1980).


� AWCB Decision No. 07-0350 (November 17, 2007).


� Id. at 11.


� AS 23.30.122.


� Id.


� See Dr. Gritzka’s SIME report dated February 17, 2009.  Employee testified at hearing she mis-communicated the effect of her treatments with Dr. Kropp to Dr. Gritzka.  She testified consistent with Dr. Kropp’s reports that the treatments assisted in resolving symptoms related to her low back until the controversion interrupted them.  We find her testimony and Dr. Kropp’s reports credible.  AS 23.30.122.


� Id.


� Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249 (Alaska 2007).


� See for example Employer’s hearing Exhibit 5.


� 524 P.2d 264 (Alaska 1974).


� Black v. Universal Services, Inc., 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981). 


� See Employee’s deposition at 19.


� 524 P.2d 264 (Alaska 1974) at 266.


� Id. at 266-267.


� Id. at 268.


� 989 P.2d 727 (Alaska 1999).


� Id. at 731.


� Id.


� Id. at 732.


� Id. at 731.


� See Dr. Gritzka’s February 17, 2009 SIME report at 10.


� See Dr. Gritzka’s March 17, 2009 SIME addendum report.


� Stefano v. BP Exploration Alaska, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 08-0035 (February 26, 2008) at 12.


� See also Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association,  860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).


� See also Williamee v. Derrick Enterprises, AWCB Decision No. 98-0078 (March 27, 1998).


� 700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985).


� 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979) (footnote omitted).


� 367 P.2d 884, 889 (Alaska 1962).


� AS 44.62.570.


� 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978) (footnotes omitted).


� See e.g. Kelley v. Sonic Cable Television, Superior Court Case No. 3AN 89�6531 CIV (February 2, 1991); Quirk v. Anchorage School District, Superior Court Case No. 3AN�90�4509 CIV (August 21, 1991).


� See e.g. Kinn v. Norcon, AWCB Decision No. 99-0041 (March 1, 1999); Lemire v. B&R Construction, AWCB Decision No. 99-0019 (January 28, 1999); Buxton v. Cameron Corporation, AWCB Decision No. 99-0005 (January 8, 1999). 


� Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).


� See November 17, 2008 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation.


� See Mr. Holloway’s November 21, 2008 letter.


� See December 2, 2008 letter from Deborah Torgerson to Virginia Samson.


� See Mr. Mason’s December 15, 2008 letter with attachments.  We find the “Smallwood” objection to these statements irrelevant at this juncture because the RBA Designee relied upon these statements and we find no legal basis for applying the Smallwood objection to documents presented to the RBA Designee for consideration.  Furthermore, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.120(e) the Board could consider this hearsay evidence to supplement Employee’s direct testimony on the issues subject of these statements.  8 AAC 45.120(f) states the Smallwood objection applies to evidence offered at hearing before the Board and says nothing of evidence provided to the RBA Designee during an eligibility evaluation.  Our reasoning is supported by the Board’s practice of not applying the Smallwood objection to medical reports during SIME disputes.


� See attachments to Ms. Samson’s January 22, 2009 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation Addendum #2.


� See Ms. Samson’s January 22, 2009 Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation Addendum #2.


� Although we find he stated in his deposition she could not.  See Dr. Brigham’s deposition at 29.


� Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).


� Id. at footnote 2.


� AWCB Decision No. 02-0075 (April 26, 2002).


� AWCB Decision No. 06-0139 (June 1, 2006).


� See Mr. Holloway’s January 30, 2009 letter.


� AS 23.30.041(e)(2).


� AS 23.30.041(f)(1).


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0228 (September 3, 1998)


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0238 (September 16, 1998).


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978).


� See Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986); Gertlar v. H & H Contractors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 97-0105.


� See for example Neel v. Flight Alaska, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 03-0023 (February 6, 2003); but see Leask v. Sears Roebuck & Co., AWCB Decision No. 02-0103 (June 6, 2002).





31

